1986

Joan A. Stephens v. Brent Henderson, Classic Skating Center : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES:

1. Whether the trial court erred in applying the doctrine of joint and several liability to appellant.
2. Whether the Court's refusal to give certain jury instructions which attempted to apply the primary doctrine of assumption of risk to this case which involved a sporting activity was reversible error.
3. Whether the court's refusal to give an instruction offered by the defendant concerning the specific duty of care of a proprietor to guard against intentional assaults was reversible error.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES:

The following statutes bear upon a determination of the resolution of this action:

- A. Laws of Utah 1973, Chapter 209 (old version),
§ 78-27-37, et seq., U.C.A., 1953
(repealed 1986)
- B. Laws of Utah 1986, Chapter 199 (new version),
§ 78-27-37, et seq., U.C.A., 1953

Please note that the complete text of the statutes appear in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE:

This is a tort action by a patron of a public roller skating rink against the operator of the rink and another, unidentified patron, for personal injury incurred. The action was filed in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County on January 25, 1985. It came to trial on July 28 and 29, 1986, before a jury. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff, as explained more fully below, and final judgment was entered on August 12, 1986. Defendant made payment of the judgment pursuant to a Writ of Execution served August 15, 1986, and entered his Notice of Appeal on August 18, 1986.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS:

On November 8, 1984, plaintiff went to the Classic Skating Center in Orem, Utah, to roller skate with a friend and the children of her friend. (Trans., p. 28-29.)

The Classic Skating Center is located in Orem, Utah, and is a large commercial facility with a skating floor approximately 85' x 150'. (Trans., pp. 75-76.)

Plaintiff's friend, Mrs. Inglis, entered upon the skating floor prior to the plaintiff and saw a teenage boy, never identified, knock down another woman. (Trans., pp. 6-7.)

The plaintiff then went onto the roller skating floor and was trailing 10 feet behind Mrs. Inglis. (Trans., p. 18.) Mrs. Inglis testified that this same boy pushed the plaintiff down. (Trans., p. 4.) Upon cross-examination, Mrs. Inglis admitted she did not actually see the boy make contact with the plaintiff. (Trans., p. 24.) However, Mrs. Inglis heard the boy yell something to the effect that "I got another one" after making contact with the plaintiff. (Trans., p. 5.) The plaintiff never did see the John Doe that struck her. (Trans., p. 51-52.) As a result of the fall, Mrs. Stephens suffered injury to her left wrist. (Trans., pp. 39-45.)

There was some discrepancy in the testimony about the number of people present when the incident occurred. Mrs. Inglis testified there were approximately 50 people on the floor and 100 people present in the facility. (Trans., pp. 16-17.) Plaintiff testified there were a "few hundred". (Trans., p. 48.) The manager testified that there were 400 patrons present that night. (Trans., p. 87.)

Mrs. Inglis and the plaintiff claimed that the floor guards, employees that controlled the crowd, were negligent in that they were not present to the observation of the plaintiff or Mrs. Inglis and, consequently, did not take steps to protect her. (Trans., pp. 6, 35-37.) The defendant introduced testimony of the manager to the effect that extra floor guards were on duty that night, that he actively supervises them to see that they perform their job and that the staffing was within the guidelines of the industry. (Trans., pp. 78-83, 85-87.)

The defendant claimed that contact with other roller skaters was a normal incident of roller skating as was the mere act of falling down. (Trans., pp. 84, 105, 106.)

At the conclusion of plaintiff's case, defense counsel moved the Court to rule that the doctrine of joint and several liability does not apply to the action. (Trans., pp. 66-67; R., p. 60.) Defense counsel also asked at the conclusion of plaintiff's case that the Court apply the standard of care for an intentional attack upon the plaintiff as established by the evidence and for application of the doctrine of assumption of risk as a matter of law to bar the action of plaintiff in the form of a directed verdict. (Trans., pp. 67-69.) The Court denied both Motions of the defendant. (Trans., pp. 67, 72-74.)

Several jury instructions offered by Henderson and described more specifically in this Brief and set forth in the Addendum, were rejected by the Court. Defendant specifically stated its exceptions to the rejection of the requested instructions at issue in this appeal. (Trans., pp. 111, 112.)

The jury returned a special verdict in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$17,357.92 and allocated 75% negligence to the unidentified defendant, John Doe, 25% negligence to the defendant Henderson, and no negligence to the plaintiff. (R., p. 283.)

The verdict was reduced to judgment on August 12, 1986, over the objection of Henderson. (R., pp. 292, 307-308.) A Writ of Execution was issued August 13, 1986. (R., p. 340.) The Writ of Execution was served by a constable on Friday, August 15, 1986, at 9:30 p.m. (R., p. 344.) In lieu of having property seized, the defendant, Mr. Henderson, gave a personal check for the amount of the judgment, plus costs of service, which was replaced later by an insurance company check. (R., p. 345.) Consequently, defendant Henderson has paid 100% of the judgment, plus costs totaling \$18,182.87, while having only been allocated 25% of the liability. (R., pp. 349-351.)

After this case was filed and prior to trial, the 1986 session of the Utah Legislature adopted the Liability Reform Act, which abolished the legal doctrine of joint and several liability. Laws of Utah 1986, Chapter 199. The effective date of the Act was April 28, 1986. The legislature did not provide in the Act for its application to pending cases.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Appellant contends that the Liability Reform Act of 1986, which took effect while the case was pending trial, should be applied to this action or that the doctrine of joint and several liability should, for reasons of public policy, not be applied to this action. First, plaintiff has no vested right which would be eliminated by application of the Act. Second, the Act implements a procedural change which may be applied retroactively, where appropriate. Third, the doctrine of joint and several liability is no longer the public policy of the State and, without regard to the application of the Liability Reform Act, the Court should abolish the common law doctrine.

Appellant also claims the Court erred in rejecting its instructions for two reasons. First, the Court refused to instruct the jury on the doctrine of assumption of risk. Appellant

claims that in a sporting activity case the doctrine of assumption of risk remains at issue even though the doctrine has been merged into the comparative negligence statute. Otherwise, the effect would be to overrule the long-existing rule of sporting cases that assumption of risk is always a defense. Second, appellant claims that the failure of the District Court to give a specific instruction on duty of care was reversible error. Specifically, the only evidence presented by the plaintiff showed that the plaintiff was a victim of an intentional assault. The Court gave no instruction on the duty of care, but gave a general instruction on negligence. Consequently, the jury had no definitive guideline to measure whether the duty of care had been breached.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN APPLYING THE DOCTRINE OF JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY TO APPELLANT

A. The Liability Reform Act.

1. Introduction:

At the close of plaintiff's case at trial, Henderson made a motion for the court to rule that the doctrine of joint

and several liability did not apply to this case by virtue of the provisions of the Liability Reform Act of 1986 (The Act), Laws of Utah 1986, Chapter 199, which eliminated the legal doctrine of joint and several liability in Utah. (Trans., p. 66). The Court denied the Motion, finding that the Act did not apply to pending cases. (Trans., p. 67.)

The Liability Reform Act took effect on April 28, 1986, three months before the trial of this action. The Act repealed and re-enacted, among others, Sections 78-27-38 and 78-27-40, U.C.A., 1953. Those sections as re-enacted read as follows:

"The fault of a person seeking recovery shall not alone bar recovery by that person. He may recover from any defendant or group of defendants whose fault exceeds his own. However, no defendant is liable to any person seeking recovery for any amount in excess of the proportion of fault attributable to that defendant.

Subject to Section 78-27-38, the maximum amount for which a defendant may be liable to any person seeking recovery is that percentage or proportion of the damages equivalent to the percentage or proportion of fault attributed to that defendant. . .
."

In denying defendant's motion, the lower court stated that the Act effected a substantive change in law and "should not be enforced retroactively". (Trans., p. 67). The court's ruling

is erroneous for two reasons. First, the Court could have applied the Act prospectively, and, second, the Act effected a procedural and not substantive change in law.

2. Retroactive vs. Prospective Application:

The district court apparently determined that in order to apply the Act at all to this case, the court must apply it retroactively. Such a conclusion is incorrect since at the time the Act took effect, no right had vested in plaintiff which would have required retroactive application of the Act to defeat.

Plaintiff's right to collect pursuant to the doctrine of joint and several liability obviously does not vest until judgment is rendered. Joint and several liability is merely a doctrine which enables a plaintiff who has recovered judgment to collect 100% of the judgment from any one of the multiple tort-feasors even though each individual tort-feasor's percentage of negligence is less than 100%. Prior to judgment, the plaintiff does not have any right to collect anything from a defendant. The doctrine of joint and several liability does not give plaintiff any additional substantive theory by which a judgment may be recovered. At best, plaintiff acquired, at the time the cause of

action accrued, the expectation that if she were awarded a judgment, the doctrine of joint and several liability would allow her to collect 100% of that judgment from any one of the multiple tort-feasors. Such an expectation is not a vested right. As the Court stated in Silver King Coalition Mines Company v. Industrial Commission, 2 Utah 2d 1, 268 P.2d 689 (1954):

" . . . It is often said that a right is not 'vested' unless it is something more than such a mere expectation as may be based upon an anticipated continuation of the present laws." At p. 692.

Plaintiff had only an expectation with respect to the doctrine of joint and several liability at the time the Act took effect. The Act, prospectively applied, eliminated joint and several liability in all cases where the right to collect had not vested. Accordingly in this case, prospective application of the Act defeats plaintiff's expectation to collect her judgment jointly and severally against Henderson.

The case of Campbell v. Stagg, 596 P.2d 1037 (Utah 1979) addressed an issue similar to that involved in the present action. Campbell involved an action by a plaintiff to recover for injuries sustained in an automobile accident occurring on September 9, 1973. Plaintiff's complaint was filed February 25,

1974. On May 13, 1975 -- after the complaint was filed but before the trial in October, 1977 -- a statute went into effect which allowed the calculation of interest on special damages from the date of the occurrence of the act giving rise to the cause of action. In the judgment in favor of plaintiff, the lower court allowed interest on plaintiff's special damages pursuant to the statute. The defendant appealed, arguing that such was an impermissible retroactive application of the statute.

In addressing defendant's argument, the Court first referred to the general rule that legislative enactments operate prospectively rather than retroactively unless expressly declared otherwise. The Court then made a distinction between an enactment making substantive changes and one making procedural changes and stated that the general rule against retroactive application did not apply to an enactment making a procedural change not affecting substantive rights. The Court stated as follows:

"However, we see no need to resort to the application of distinguishing labels [i.e., procedural vs. substantive] in construing [the statute]. We do not view the statute as operating retroactively. The statute simply directs the court to add interest to the amount of damages found by the jury or the court. The statute is prospective in effect, since it applies to judgments rendered after the effective date of the act; it does not

clearly express any retroactive effect to judgments entered before its effective date, and therefore has no such effect. The fact that the time from which interest should be calculated predates the effective date of the statute does not cause the statute itself to operate retroactively. Plaintiff's right to interest in this case was dependent upon the law in effect at the time the judgment was entered. . . .
." At 1042 (Emphasis in original).

Just as plaintiff's right to interest in Campbell was dependent upon the law in effect at the time the judgment was entered, application of the doctrine of joint and several liability is dependent upon the law in effect at the time the judgment is entered and not at the time the cause of action accrued. The law in effect at the time judgment was entered in this case contained a provision eliminating the doctrine of joint and several liability. Accordingly, the trial court erred when it applied the doctrine of joint and several liability to this case.

2. Substantive vs. Procedural Issues:

The second reason the lower court's ruling was erroneous is that the Act effected not a substantive but a procedural change. Therefore, application of the Act is proper even should the Court view its application as retroactive. While the general rule provides that legislation may not be applied retroactively

in the absence of an express legislative declaration to that effect, an exception to that rule applies when the legislation changes only procedural rather than substantive law. This principle was stated by the Utah Supreme Court as follows:

"Plaintiff argues that retrospective operation of statutes is not favored by the courts. To be sure, this is the rule when retrospective enforcement would modify vested rights or interests.

A contrary rule applies, however, where a statute changes only procedural law by providing a different mode or form of procedure for enforcing substantive rights. Such remedial statutes are generally applied retrospectively to accrued or pending actions to further the legislature's remedial purpose." Pilcher v. State, 663 P.2d 450, 455 (Utah 1983)

See also State Dept. of Social Services v. Higgs, 656 P.2d 998, 1000 (Utah 1982), which held that "[p]rocedural statutes enacted subsequent to the initiation of a suit which do not enlarge, eliminate, or destroy vested or contractual rights apply not only to future actions, but also to accrued and pending actions as well."

The distinction between substantive and procedural law has been defined by the Utah Supreme Court as follows:

"Substantive law is defined as the positive law which creates, defines and regulates the rights and duties of the parties and which may give rise to a cause for action, as distinguished from adjective law which pertains to and prescribes the practice and procedure or the legal machinery by which the substantive law is determined or made effective." Petty v. Clark, 113 Utah 205, 192 P.2d 589, 593-594 (1948).

In Baldwin v. City of Waterloo, 372 N.W.2d 486 (Iowa 1985) the Iowa Supreme Court considered a newly enacted Iowa statute which eliminated joint and several liability and presented the same question of application to pending cases as here. In Baldwin the court ruled that the new statute made a procedural change only and should, therefore, be given retroactive application. The court stated as follows:

"It is well established that a statute is presumed to be prospective only unless expressly made retrospective. Statutes which specifically affect substantive rights are construed to operate prospectively unless legislative intent to the contrary clearly appears from the express language or by necessary and unavoidable implication. Conversely, if the statute relates solely to a remedy or procedure, it is ordinarily applied both prospectively and retrospectively.

We have previously discussed the distinctions between substantive and procedural law. Substantive law creates, defines and

regulates rights. Procedural law, on the other hand, 'is the practice, method, procedure, or legal machinery by which the substantive law is enforced or made effective.'

. . .

Plaintiff had no vested right in a particular result of this litigation or in the continuation of the principle of unlimited joint and several liability. . . . Any interest that these defendants might have in the continued state of the law concerning joint and several liability was not a 'vested' right entitled to constitutional protection." At pp. 491 and 492.

Similarly, the Liability Reform Act made a procedural and not a substantive change in the law and should be given retroactive application. Assuming the Court does not reverse the judgment entirely on other grounds, this Court should order that the judgment be properly entered in the amount of 25% of the total judgment and that the excess paid be refunded, with interest.

B. Common Law Doctrine and Public Policy:

In the District Court, Henderson requested the court to hold that "should the jury determine that the defendant is liable, the doctrine of joint and several liability ought not to be applied." (R., p. 60.) The trial court's denial of

Henderson's request resulted in plaintiff collecting 100% of her judgment from Henderson when Henderson was found to be only 25% at fault. (R., p. 345.) The court's application of the doctrine of joint and several liability was contrary to the public policy and legal doctrine in Utah at the time of judgment.

The doctrine of joint and several liability, which was abolished by the legislature in the Liability Reform Act, is not a statutory but a court-created, common-law doctrine. See generally, Groot v. Oregon Short Line R. Co., 34 Utah 152, 96 P. 1019 (1908). Prior to the enactment of the Liability Reform Act, the only Utah statute which directly related to the doctrine was § 78-27-41(1), U.C.A. (1953), which stated as follows:

"Nothing in [the Comparative Negligence] Act shall affect:

(1) The common-law liability of the several joint tort-feasors to have judgment recovered, and payment made, from them individually by the injured person for the whole injury. . . ." (Emphasis added)

This statutory provision did not create the doctrine of joint and several liability; it merely acknowledged it and stated that the Comparative Negligence Act was not intended to affect the doctrine as it existed at common law.

As a court-made, common-law doctrine, joint and several liability is, as are all rules of the common law, subject to modification or abrogation by judicial decision. As stated by the Court of Appeals of Washington:

"It is generally recognized that when a rule of law has had its origins in the common law and is therefore a creation of the courts, the courts may change or modify such rule." Irwin v. Coluccio, 648 P.2d 458, 459 (Wash.App. 1982).

Similarly, the Arizona Supreme Court has stated:

"Just as the common law is court-made law based upon the circumstances and conditions of the time, so can the common law be changed by the court when conditions and circumstances change. When the reason for a rule no longer exists, the rule itself may be changed by the court." Fernandez v. Romo, 646 P.2d 873, 880 (Ariz. 1982)

The common-law doctrine of joint and several liability apparently had its origins in cases where multiple defendants acted in concert to cause plaintiff's injuries.

"[W]here the defendants acted in concert, 'the act of one was the act of all,' and each was therefore liable for the entire loss sustained by the plaintiff, even

though he might have caused only a part of it. The rule grew out of the common law concept of the unity of the cause of action; the jury could not be permitted to apportion the damages, since there was but one wrong. . . .

But the common law developed likewise a distinct and altogether unrelated principle: a defendant might be liable for the entire loss sustained by the plaintiff, even though his negligence concurred or combined with that of another to produce the result. . . . Apparently liability was based upon an instinctive feeling that defendant was morally responsible for the result, and the evident impossibility of dividing the damages." Prosser, William L., Joint Torts and Several Liability, 25 Cal. L.Rev. 413, 418 and 419 (1936).

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