1986

Joan Stephens v. Brent Henderson, Classic Skating Center : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Classic does not have a final judgment resolving all issues in the case nor certification pursuant to Rule 54(b).

2. The Liability Reform Act of 1986, should not be applied to this case, first, because it should not be applied retroactively, and second, in light of arguments to the Jury failure to apply would be harmless error.

3. The trial Court properly followed and applied the doctrine of Assumption of the Risk to this case.

4. The conduct of John Doe did not constitute an Intentional Assault and the duty owed by Classic differed from the duty owed by defendants in Gustaveson, infra.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THIS IS NOT A FINAL JUDGMENT FROM WHICH
APPEAL LIES PURSUANT TO RULE 54(b)

In this action, Defendant filed an Answer and Counterclaim subsequent to being served with a Summons and Complaint in this matter. A copy of said Answer and Counterclaim is included as an exhibit in the appendix to this Brief and labelled Exhibit 2. The matters contained in the Counterclaim were not submitted to the jury, and no Order has been entered with regards to the Counterclaim in this action.

Defendants have not availed themselves of the procedures of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 54(b), which permits an appeal of "fewer than all the claims or parties," but only after District Court certification. Defendant has neither sought nor received an interlocutory appeal, under Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 72(b), as superseded by Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 5.

It is well-established law in this jurisdiction that a party to a suit generally is entitled to only one appeal as a matter of right, regardless of the number of parties or issues presented for disposition. An appeal can be taken only from the entry of a judgment that finally concludes the action. Pate v.

Marathon Steel, 692 P.2d 765 (Utah 1984). There is no doubt that the entry of judgment by the jury in this case, and the subsequent entry of judgment by the Court, constitutes a final judgment on the issues presented in Plaintiff's Complaint. However, the District Court did not certify the matter for appeal under Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, by entering the express finding that there was "no just reason for delay." Until a final Order is entered, or until a Rule 54(b) certification by the trial Court is obtained, Defendants have not appealed from a final, appealable Order. General Motors Acceptance Corporation v. Martinez, 24 UAR 18 (Utah 1985), quoting Pate v. Marathon Steel Co., supra.

Requirement of having appeal lie only from an Order resolving all issues as to all parties, or having Rule 54(b) certification, is jurisdictional. That is, the Appellate Court obtains no jurisdiction to hear the matter, even though the parties may acquiesce or consent to the appeal. Lack of jurisdiction can be raised at any time by either party or by the Court. Olsen v. Salt Lake City School District, 39 UAR 39 (Utah 1986).

A final point should be noted, that being that plaintiff feels that the Counterclaim was groundless, as based upon the jurys' verdict, and has no objection to this matter being heard on its merits. Entry of a verdict by the Jury in favor of the plaintiff and against defendant Classic establishes that the

action was not groundless and brought in bad faith.

POINT II

THE LIABILITY REFORM ACT OF 1986 SHOULD NOT BE GIVEN RETROACTIVE EFFECT

Defendant claims only two possible errors in the trial court's failure to apply the Liability Reform Act of 1986. Defendant provides first that the Court could have applied the Act prospectively, and second that the Act effected a procedural and not a substantive change in law.

A. Retroactive v. Prospective Application: Defendants' position that the Liability Reform Act may be applied prospectively, without having retroactive effect is wholly without merit and support.

First it should be noted that substantial research by this office has failed to uncover any Utah decisions directly addressing the issue of whether joint and several liability, either its creation or elimination, affects substantive rights or is merely a procedural remedial law. Section 68-3-3 Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended) specifically states that "no part of these revised statutes is retroactive, unless expressly so declared."

The Liability reform Act of 1986, repeals and reenacts the Utah Code provisions regarding comparative negligence and right to contribution among joint tortfeasors. The changes are sweeping and directly effect a Plaintiff's right to recover from

Joint tortfeasors as well as abolishing the right of contribution among joint tortfeasors.

Unless this Court wishes to address the Liability Reform Act piecemeal, it must address the provisions relating to Contribution. In addition, an analogy may be drawn to the law of Contribution for the proposition that the right to Joint and Several Liability effects substantive rights, and therefore, can not have retroactive application.

The Utah Court has held that the creation of a right to contribution effects substantive rights. Brunyer v. Salt Lake Co., 551 P.2d 521 522 (Utah 1976). As the Utah Liability Reform Act modifies substantive rights, it cannot be applied retroactively.

The doctrine of Joint and Several liability are substantive, pursuant to the definitions provided by the Utah Supreme Court.

Substantive law is law which creates, defines, and regulates the rights and duties of the parties, [and not merely] law which pertains to and prescribes the practice and procedure by which the substantive law is determined or made effective.
Petty v. Clark, 192 P.2d 589, at 593-4 (Utah 1948).

Applying the definitions in Petty to the Utah statute on joint and several liability, it is clear that the joint and several liability and contribution statutes define the rights of the plaintiff and the duties of the joint tortfeasors. The plaintiff had the right to recover from one or more of the joint tortfeasors, and each joint tortfeasor had the duty to pay the

entire damage when this cause of action arose. If the Utah Liability Reform Act is applied as requested by defendant, it would modify existing rights, and would be, in effect, retroactive.

Defendants baldly assert in their Memorandum that Plaintiff had no vested right at the time the Liability Reform Act took effect. Defendant cites no authority for this statement.

Some guidance in this matter may be obtained from the case of United States Fidelity and Guarantee Co. v. Park City Co., 397 F.Supp. 411 (D. Ore. 1973), in which the Court examined a contribution joint tortfeasor statute to determine whether it should be applied retroactively to an accident that occurred prior to the effective date of that statute. In reaching its decision, the Federal District Court noted the general rule against retroactive application absent an express provision of retroactivity. The Court stated:

"The relationship between the parties is fixed as of the date of the action. It is at that time that these parties become joint tort-feasors. Their rights and obligations. . .are governed by the then existing substantive law. . ."

Id. at 414

Similarly, in a case dealing with the amount recoverable under a Workmens' Compensation Statute, the Utah Supreme Court noted that "Civil liabilities already incurred may not be changed by statute unless specifically so provided by the

Legislature." 8000 West Corp. v. Stewart, 546 P.2d 1281, 1282 (Utah 1976).

Other cases dealing with application of substantive law are in accord:

The distinction (between purely procedural and purely substantive legislation) relates not so much to the form of the statute as to its effects. If substantial changes are made, even in a statute which might ordinarily be classified as procedural, the operation on existing rights would be retroactive because the legal effects of past events would be changed, and the statute will be construed to operate only in futuro unless the legislative intent to the contrary clearly appears.

Aetna Casualty Co. v. Industrial Accident Commission, 30 Cal.2d 388, 182 P.2d 159, 162 (1947) (emphasis added).

It thus appears clear from Utah precedent in the areas of contribution from joint tortfeasors and of insurance coverage that the Act effects substantive rights of the parties and the provisions of §68-3-3, rather than its exception, should be applied to deny the Act retroactive effect.

B. Legislative Intent as to Application of the Liability Reform Act.

The Liability Reform Act contains no express language as to whether the Act is to apply to causes of action pending at the Act's effective date. Courts generally apply a rule of strict construction against retroactive application of statutes, unless there is an express text declaring otherwise. See generally, Sutherland, Statutory Construction, §41.04, 4th Ed., 1973:

The strength and continued vitality of the rule favoring exclusively prospective interpretation is often espoused. Words in a statute ought not to have retroactive operation unless they are so clear, strong and imperative that no other meaning can be annexed to them, or unless the intent of the legislature cannot otherwise be satisfied.

This rule has been codified in Utah Code Ann. §68-3-3 (supra). In Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Trustees, Inc., 8 Utah 2d 101, 329 P.2d 398 (1958), the Utah Supreme Court emphasized the importance of §68-3-3:

As to any statutory question, Utah's policy demands the inclusion of an express authorization to justify any retrospective application of the statute. Id. at 399.

In the absence of express statutory language, courts often look to the statute's legislative history to determine if the statute was intended to apply retroactively or prospectively. During the 1986 general session of the Utah legislature in a state and local standing committee meeting on January 27, 1986, statements were made which shed light on the legislature's intention. Senator Williams pointedly asked Senator Barlow, the Act's principal sponsor:

Do you foresee any problems with this law coming into effect immediately. . . in terms of cases coming on line right now or within the next six months?

Senator Barlow referred the question to Al Larson, the bill's principal draftsman, who answered:

We perceive that this Act will govern only causes of action or claims which arise after the Act's effective date.

Moments later, Senator Williams again questioned Senator

Barlow and Mr. Larson:

So it really does not matter what the effective date is?

(This question implied that whether the Act became effective upon the Governor's signature or 60 days post adjournment was of no great importance since the relative impact on pending cases would be the same.) In response, Senator Barlow put forth the following example:

"Say you had a serious accident happen the day after the Governor signed the Liability Reform Act. It is now the law. Otherwise, the accident would go under the provisions of the old law.
Utah Senate State and Local Standing Committee Tapes, 1986 General Sess., Utah State Legislature, January 27, 1986.

This series of questions and answers indicate that the bill's principal sponsor believed that causes of action accruing prior to the Act's effective date would be governed by existing law and not the Liability Reform Act. The committee passed the proposed amendment by a unanimous vote immediately following this discussion.

On the floor of the Utah House of Representatives during debate on the final reading of the Act, Representative Adams asked a similar question:

"How does this Act effect lawsuits that are presently being filed or that have been recently settled?"

Representative Demann responded: "It has no bearing on existing cases, it will affect only those accidents that occur after the law has gone into effect." Utah House of

Representatives Floor Records, Utah State Legislature, 1986
General Sess., February 26, 1986, Record No. 18. Within ten
(10) minutes of this statement, the House approved the Act by a
vote of 50 to 13. (Memorandum Decision, Fashon Place
Investment, et al. v. Salt Lake County, et al., Consolidated
Case No. C-84-302, Third District Court for Salt Lake County)

Thus, a review of the legislative history of the Liability
Reform Act indicates that the Legislature intended that it not
apply to pending cases.

C. Cases Cited by the Defendant are not Applicable

The cases cited by Defendants Classic and Henderson, in
support of their position that the Liability Reform Act of 1986
may be applied prospectively are not authoritative or applicable
to this action. Defendant cites dicta from the case of Silver
King Coalition Mines Co. v. Industrial Commission in 2 Utah 2d
1, 268 P.2d 689 (1954), for the proposition that Plaintiff did
not have a right.

The case is not on point. That case sought a determination
regarding the Statute of Limitations on a death benefit statute.
The case was unique to Workers' Compensation Law, involved
numerous contingencies affecting liability, and ultimately the
Court held that the amendment to the law was enacted before the
worker's claim was barred and hence, before his decedent's
rights were barred. The cause of action of his dependants had
not yet arisen, and therefore the statute was not being applied
retroactively. Id. at 693.

Likewise, the Defendants' argument that the case of Campbell v. Stagg, 596 P.2d 1037 (Utah 1979) provides support for the proposition that this statute may be applied prospectively is unjustly and incompletely made. The case is inapplicable in deciding whether the Liability Reform Act should be given retroactive effect and applied to pending cases. Indeed, the Court specifically noted "[w]e do not view the statute as operating retroactively." Id. at 1042. The quote looked at the language of the statute, which explicitly directed that all judgments entered after the Act's effective date must include interest on the amount awarded. They were also careful to point out that the change did not affect judgments entered prior to its effective date. Thus, since the Court did not even consider this statute to be retroactive in effect, the holding in Campbell has no bearing on the issue now before this Court. In addition, the Supreme Court specifically held in Campbell:

Similarly, we believe the legislative intent regarding this statute to be that the date of the act giving rise to the action is in all cases the date used for computing the period of interest.

Pursuant to the legislative analysis provided above, it is clear that the legislative intent in the Liability Reform Act of 1986 was that it not apply to cases that arose prior to the Act's effective date.

D. Substantive Law vs. Procedural Law Approach:

It has often been recognized, as set forth above, that an act may be given retroactive effect if it is procedural and not substantive in character. The Utah Supreme Court has recognized this narrow exception to the general rule of non-retroactivity:

"[w]here an amendment's effect was "procedural" or "remedial." Foil v. Ballinger, Utah, 601 P.2d 144 (1979) (clarified statutory notice provision and changed "commenced" to "initiated"); Petty v. Clark, 113 Utah 205, 192 P.2d 589 (1948) (added new categories or suits where jury is advisory); Boucofski v. Jacobsen, 36 Utah 165, 104 P. 117 (1909) (empowered courts to make additional findings after entry of judgment). In Foil v. Ballinger, 601 P.2d at 151, we quoted with approval a passage from Okland Construction Co. v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 520 P.2d 208, 210-11 (1974), which stated that a statute or amendment may be retroactively applied where it "deals only with clarification or amplification as to how the law should have been understood prior to its enactment."

In Re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1369-1370, fn. 4 (Utah 1982) (emphasis added).

In the case cited, the Court went on to hold that amendments concerning when parental rights may be involuntarily terminated in a child's best interests were not a merely procedural change or clarification, even though the statute's controlling principle was not altered. The amendments could not be applied retroactively since "changes of this magnitude do not fit within the relatively narrow exception" to the general rule. In re J.P., 648 P.2d at 1370, fn. 4. Accord, In the Matter of Disconnection of Certain Territory From Highland City, 668 P.2d 544, 548-549 (Utah 1983) (where amendments do not merely "clarify" or "amplify" how the earlier law should have been

understood, but alter the substantive criteria for decision, they constitute a fundamental change in the law on which both sides have relied in preparing and presenting their cases and cannot be given retroactive effect).

Shortly after the 1973 enactment of §78-27-37, et seq. the Utah Supreme Court had occasion to examine whether or not the right of contribution among joint tortfeasors (§78-27-39, U.C.A. 1953 as amended 1973) was a substantive right or whether the statute was "remedial" or "procedural" in nature. The Court concluded:

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